AD-A022 493

et e les

المحمد المرد لارتجا الأراكية ولائهم والمراجع

THE EFFECTS OF CHRONIC EXERCISE ON THE HEART AND ON CORONARY ATHEROSCLEROTIC HEART DISEASE. A LITERATURE SURVEY

V. F. Froelicher

School of Aerospace Medicine Brooks Air Force Base, Texas

February 1976

DISTRIBUTED BY:





W.TICES

. This find populations beneficed by perpetual of the internal vedicine Bra wh. Chick and Schubber Division. USA: said bi of nerospece Meticine. Lake mine Midland Division, MWC, Brooks Air Borte Anse, Tease, and a jud-Comes 7755401-42.

When U.S. Covernment drawings, quesificati as, or other data are used for any putpose other them a definitely related presents procurement sperstion, the Communicat thereby incurs as respond bility nor any obligation who undervers and the tast that the Government may have formulated, furnished. or in the may may applied the said drawings, specifications, or other data is no? To be repaided by implication or extervise, as in soly makener licensury the Mal & M any other person or corporation, or conveying any rights or procise to manfactare, use, or call any patented invention that may in way way we calleted thereto.

This report has been reviews: by the Information Office (01) and is veloquelie to the Metional Toobul al Information Service (MTIS). AL ATL:, 12 will be evailable to the general poblic, including foreign nations.

this becomical report has been reviewed and is approved for publication

Proyest Schweiset

With S. Frowline C. Marker, St., Le gal, USAN, SC. Michael R. Jones, A. M. S. M. M. S. M.

Red

BOREPT J. WEIVER, CALDIAL, USAF, MC Commission of the P



and a second strategy with providing the second second second second second second second second second second

۰.

an i the annual and a sub-antition and

· .

UNCLASSIFIED

REPORT DOCUNENTATI	ON PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO	. S. REGIPLENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
SAN-TR-76-6		
. TITLE (and Sublifie)		3. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVEREE
THE EFFECTS OF CHRONIC EXERCISE	FINAL	
AND ON CORONARY ATHEROSCLEROTIC	1971-1975	
A Literature Survey		6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
7. F. Froelicher, Lieutenant Col	onel, USAF, MC	- CONTRACT OF GRANT NUMBER(3)
- PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADD	RESS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
JSAF School of Aerospace Medicin	e (NGI)	AREA E WORK UNIT NUMBERS
Aerospace Medical Division (AFSC)	62202F
STOOKS AFB, TEXAS 78235		/755-01-02
1. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS	0 (NGT)	12. REPORT DATE
Johr School of Aerospace Medicin Aerospace Medical Division (ABSC	February 1976	
Brooks AFB. Texas 78235	13. NUMBER OF PAGES	
14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(IF de	lierent trom Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
,		
		UNCLASSIFIED
		SCHEDULE
17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract on	tered in Black 20, 11 different fr	om rieport)
17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract on 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES To be a chapter in Cardiovascuia	r Clinic, edited by	A. Brest. M.D.:
 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract on 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. De a chapter in Cardiovascuia F. A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 	r Clinic, edited by	om Keport)
 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract on SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES To be a chapter in Cardiovascuia A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 S. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary) 	r Clinic, edited by 6.	A. Brest, M.D.;
 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract on SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES To be a chapter in Cardiovascuia F. A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary) Physical activity 	r Clinic, edited by 6. wy and identify by block number pidemiologic studie nimal studies	om Kepor()
 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract on SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES be a chapter in Cardiovascuia A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary isk factor Physical activity A. Coronary artery disease 	r Clinic, edited by 6. wy and identify by black number pidemiologic studie nimal studies reventive medicine	A. Brest, M.D.;
 DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract on SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES To be a chapter in Cardiovascuia A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary hisk factor E Physical activity A Coronary artery disease P 	r Clinic, edited by 6. wy and identify by block number pidemiologic studie ni.mal studies reventive medicine	A. Brest, M.D.;
 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract on be a chapter in Cardiovascuia A. Davis Co., publishers, 197 6. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessarisk factor E) hysical activity A: oronary artery disease P 0. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessaries Detailed information is pressurvey on epidemiologic, patholo f chronic exercise on the heart onclusion could yet be reached. holesterol, hypertension and c reventive cardiology efforts. 	r Clinic, edited by 6. up and identify by block number pidemiologic studie nimal studies reventive medicine my and identify by block number) ented here concerni gic, and animal stu and on coronary ar Alter,ation of th igarette smokings	A. Brest, M.D.; A. Brest, M.D.; S ng a comprehensive literature dies evaluating the effects tery disease. No definitive e three cardinal risk factors hould be the main aim of

Sec. 1

1 - A

CONTENTS

and the state

. . . .

Pag	e
INTRODUCTION	
POPULATION OR CLINICAL STUDIES	
Retrospective epidemiologic studies	
Prevalence or cross-sectional epidemiologic studies	
Prospective epid miologic studies	
Pathologic studies	
Rehabilitation studies 12	
ANIMAL STUDIES 14	
Myocardial hypertrophy 18	
Myocardial histologic changes 18	
Coronary artery size changes 19	
Coronary collateral circulation	
Cardiac performance	
Myocardial mitochondria enzymes and glycogen stores	
Atherosclerosis and serum cholesterol	
FACTORS ACTING INDIRECTLY THROUGH PHYSICAL ACTIVITY	
DISCUSSION	
SUMMARY	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

TABLES

Table No.

ţ

. . . .

CARLES AND METERS

1.	Areas reviewed for pertinent studies of the effects of physical activity on coronary atherosclerotic heart disease	3
2.	Population or clinical studies, evaluating the relationship of physical activity to coronary heart disease, listed by the year(s) in which they were reported	4
3.	Studies of the hemodynamic effects of physical conditioning	15
4.	Hemodynamic changes secondary to physical conditioning as demonstrated by the reported studies	16
5.	The topics of animal studies concerning the effects of chronic exercise on the cardiovascular system	18
6.	Factors that exercise training could influence, and that	

6. Factors that exercise training could influence, and that could affect myocardial ischemia and/or atherosclerosis.... 23

THE EFFECTS OF CHRONIC EXERCISE ON THE HEART AND ON CORONARY ATHEROSCLEROTIC HEART DISEASE A Literature Survey

INTRODUCT ION

Although aerobic exercise training has well-defined effects on the heart (1) and on cardiovascular function (2), its effects on atherosclerosis (1) and coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality remain uncertain (3, 4). Physical inactivity has not been demonstrated to act as a risk factor for coronary heart disease to the same level of confidence as the three cardinal risk factors--hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, cigarette smoking (5). Nonetheless, many individuals are exercising on a regular basis for cardiovascular fitness under the assumption that this will protect them from the manifestations of coronary heart disease. In fact, many professionals in the health fields are recommending fitness programs for the prevention of coronary heart disease and for rehabilitation after myocardial infarction. For numerous reasons, including both the danger of death due to coronary heart disease during exercise (6-10) and the importance of giving the proper priority to National health efforts for fighting the coronary heart disease epidemic, it is important to clarify the relationship of aerobic exercise training to coronary heart disease. In Table 1 are listed those areas of scientific study that are reviewed, in this report, to clarify this relationship:

> TABLE 1. AREAS REVIEWED FOR PERTINENT STUDIES OF THE EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY ON CORONARY ATHEROSCLEROTIC HEART DISEASE

- 1. Population or clinical studies evaluating the effect of physical activity on coronary atherosclerotic heart disease
- 2. Animal studies of the effect of chronic exercise on atherosclerosis and the heart
- 3. Studies evaluating the effects of exercise on factors that could affect the progression of myocardial ischemia

POPULATION OR CLINICAL STUDIES

The major pertinent population or clinical studies, as listed in Table 2, are the subject of the opening section of this report. The first three types of these studies are defined as follows: "Retrospective"

POPULATION OR CLINICAL STUDIES, EVALUATING THE RELATIONSHIP TABLE 2. OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY TO CORONARY HEART DISEASE, LISTED BY THE YEAR(S) IN WHICH THEY WERE REPORTED

A. RETROSPECTIVE EPIDEMIOLOGIC STUDIES

يدرية فلتقر وردانية

- 1. ENGLAND AND WALES MORTALITY STATISTICS, 1953 (11, 12)
- LONDON BUSMEN, 1953 (12) 2
- MALMO, 1958 (16) ۲.
- NORTH DAKOTA, 1959 (17) 4.
- CHICAGO MORTALITY STATISTICS, 1960 (18) 5.
- CALIFORNIA MORTALITY STATISTICS, 1960 (19) 6.
- 7.
- CANADIAN VA, 1961 (20) U.S. RAILMEN, 1962 (21) 8.
- U.S. POSTMEN, 1963 (22) 9.
- SOUTH AFRICAN RAILROAD, 1963 (23) 10.
- HEALTH INSURANCE PLAN OF NEW YORK, 1966 (24) 11.
- ISRAEL KIBBUTZIM, 1966 (25, 26) 12
- PREVALENCE OR CROSS-SECTIONAL EPIDEMIOLOGIC STUDIES Β.
 - 1. PEOPLE'S GAS COMPANY, 1960 (27)
 - U.S. RAILROAD, 1962 (21) 2.
 - 3. EVANS COUNTY, GEORGIA, 1965 (28)
- PROSPECTIVE EPIDEMIOLOGIC STUDIES С.
 - 1. LOS ANGELES CIVIL SERVANIS, 1964 (29)
 - 2. LONDON BUSMEN, 1966 (14)
 - CHICAGO ELECTRIC COMPANY, 1969 (30) 3.
 - 4. U.S. RAILROAD, 1970 (21)
 - PEOPLE'S GAS COMPANY, ChiCAGO, 1970 (31) 5.
 - 6. SEVEN COUNTRY STUDY, 1970 (32)
 - 7.
 - SAN FRANCISCO LONGSHUNEMEN, 1970 and 1975 (33,34) WESTERN CULLABORATIVE GROUP, 1970 and 1975 (35,36) 8.
 - GOTESBURG, SWEDEN, 1971 and 1975 (37, 38) 9.
 - FRAMINGHAM, MASSACHUSETTS, 1971 (39, 40) 10.
 - EVANS COUNTY, GEORGIA, 1971 (41) 11.
 - LONDON CIVIL SERVICE, 1973 (42) 12.
 - 13. NATIONAL CORONARY DRUG STUDY, 1975 (43)
- D. PATHOLOGICAL STUDIES
 - ENGLAND, 1958 (44) 1.
 - WESTCHESTER, 1960 (45) 2.
 - CLARENCE DeMAR -- AUTOPSY, 1961 (46) 3.
 - OXFORD, 1967 (47) 4.
 - JAFFA, 1970 (48) 5.
 - 6. BASSLER, 1973 (49)
 - 7. FINLAND, 1975 (50)
- E. REHABILITATION STUDIES
 - 1. TEL AVIV, 1968 (52)
 - CLEVELAND, 1969 (51) 2.
 - RECHNITZER ET AL., 1972 (53) 3.
 - NATIONAL COLLABORATIVE POSTINFARCTION STUDY 4.
 - 5. REDWOOD ET AL., 1972 (58)
 - ROUSSEA!! ET AL., 1973 (55) 6.
 - KATTUS ET AL., 1972 (59) 7.
 - KAVANAGH AND SHFPHARD, 1974 (62) 8.
 - 9. FLETCHER AND CANTWELL, 1974 (63)

 - 10. FERGUSON ET AL., 1975 (64)

studies are epidemiologic studies involving populations in whom data were obtained in the past, not specifically for epidemiologic purposes. "Prevalence" studies are epidemiologic studies which screen a population for the current manifestations of a disease. "Prospective" studies are epidemiologic studies involving a cohort of individuals specifically chosen and studied for the purpose of following them over a subsequent period of time for the development of disease.

Retrospective Epidemiologic Studies

In one of his many opidemiologic studies evaluating physical inactivity as a risk factor for coronary heart disease. Morris presented the data from the occupational-mortality records for England and Wales (11, 12). Physical activity was graded by occupation. The level of activity was based on an independent evaluation of the occupations by several industrial experts. The activity level of the last job was found to be inversely related to the mortality from coronary disease, as determined from death certificates. In another study, Morris screened records for the incidence of coronary heart disease in drivers and conductors of the London Transport System. The age-adjusted total incidence of coronary disease was 1.5 times higher, and the midden and three-month mortality was 2 times higher, in the driver group than in the conductor group. The difference in physical activity was only deduced by knowing that one group drove the buses while the other group conducted on the double-deck vehicles. In 1956, however, Morris published a paper subtitled "The Epidemiology of Uniforms," which reported that the drivers had greater girth than the conductors (13). A later study in 1966 by Morris also showed that the drivers had higher serum cholesterol and higher blood pressures than the conductors [14]. Moreover, a study by Oliver documented that, for some unknown reason, even the recruits for the two jobs differed by lipid levels and weight (15).

Forssman and Lindegard organized a study in Malmo, a Swedish town of about 200,000 people (16). The study group was comprised of all male survivors of an acute myocardial infarction, admitted to their hospital from 1948 to 1955; and their age at the onset of the study was 55 years or less. This group included 66 men for whom healthy, similar age controls were randomly selected from the town. The level of activity was determined by an analysis of their occupation. No differences in occupational physical activity were found between the controls and the postinfarction group.

Zukel et al., who analyzed data from a population of 106,000 individuals living in six counties in North Dakota (17), reported that farmers had slightly less total coronary heart disease and one-half the infarctions and deaths from coronary disease than the others. Zukel et al. did not relate this finding directly to differences in physical activity, because they were aware of soci beconomic and environmental differences between the two groups (17). However, they did administer a physical activity questionnaire to survivors of myocardial infarctions and to matched controls. Zukel et al. felt that the results from their questionnaire suggested that physical activity could be protective from the manifestations of coronary disease.

Ţ

2

Stamler et al. analyzed the mortality statistics from Chicago for 1951 and 1953 (18). The authors found no significant occupational group differences in age specific coronary heart-disease death rates for white males, ages 45 to 64 years.

Breelow and Buell analyzed census and death certificate data in California from 1949 to 1951 (19). They felt that the data revealed a gradient of decreasing mortality from coronary heart disease with increasing physical activity, but only when occupational groups of similar general mortality wars considered.

Shanoff and Little studied a group of men with documented myocardial interation randomly selected from the files of the Toronto Veterans Administration Hospital and matched to a group from the hospital files of patients admitted with non-chronic illnesses (20). The individuals were questioned as to lifelong activity, with assessment of their physical activity in childhood, youth, and adult life. The conclusion of the author was that coronary heart disease was not associated with habitual physical inactivity.

Taylor et al. have reported on the mortality of white males employed by the U.S. railroad industry (21). The employees were separated by job title into three groups representing three levels of physical activity. Usath cartificates for the years 1955 and 1956 were analyzed by these groupings and age-adjusted death rates were obtained. Taylor at al. concluded that the data were consistent with the hypothesis that men in sedentary occupations suffer a higher incidence of coronary heart disease mortality than those in occupations requiring moderate to heavy physical activity (21).

Kahn gathered information from Federal employee records to analyse mortality data on men who were appointed to positions in the Washington D.C., post office from 1906 to 1940 (22). The study was designed to test the physical activity hypothesis by comparing the mortality data of sedentary clerks to active mail carriers. Kahn adjusted for the effect of the transfer from active jobs to inactive jobs by considering a subsample of men who did not change jobs. The data from this preselected group suggested that the clerks had 1.4 to 1.9 times the nortality from coronary heart disease than the carriers.

Adelstein compared white South Africans working for the South African railroads as officers (medentary) to those working as employees (active) (23). Mortality secondary to coronary heart disease during 1954 to 1959 among these employees, when age-adjustsd, did not differ from the general population. No significant differences were found in mortality from coronary disease for the two levels of uncupational physical activity.

Frank and colleagues studied 301 wer. enrolled in the Health Insurance Plan of Greater New York (HIP) who had their initial myocardial infarction in 1961-1963 (24). On-the-job and off-the-job a stivities were assessed by a questionnaire. This assessment was made during a personal interview with those who survived their myocardial infarcti... and with the vives of those who had died. The authors concluded that this assessment of physical activity on and off the job permitted identification of a group of least active men who were much more likely to experience a clinically severe episode and die within four weeks of its onset than men who were relatively more active.

Brunner surveyed Jows of European origin living in the Kirbutzim, or collective mettlements, in Imrael from 1946 to 1961 (25, 26). Sedentary workers, dufined as those who spent 80% or more of their time at work mitting, had 2.5 to 4 times the incidence of coronary heart disease as all the other workers. Brunner believes that the mopulation we ideal for study because their mode of life of the rest of conomic differences.

Prevalence or Cross-such and the second statuties

From 1957 to 1959, a sample of 3,049 U.S. railroad men were randomly selected for the purpose of studying the prevalence of risk factors for coronary heart disease (21). Active switchmen and sedentary clarks and executives composed the two different activity groups compared. The results suggested that the switchmen had less coronary disease. However, Taylor has pointed out that the results were compounded by many factors (21). Of particular note was the fact that the switchmen with coronary disease often become clarks. He concluded that the majority of factors affecting the observed prevalence of coronary disease operated to exaggerate any true protective influence of physical activity.

In 1960, the population of Evans County, Georgia, was first studied for the prevalence of coronary heart disease (28). Disease endpoints were angina, a history of a myocardial infarction, or diagnostic electrocardiographic findings. Among white males, in this biracial study, the distribution of coronary disease by occupation suggested that those with a greater activity had luss coronary heart disease. Black males were found to have less coronary disease than white males and were more active, both by analysis of occupation and caloric consumption; but they were also thinner and had lower serum cholesterols.

Prospective Epidemiologic Studies

Chapman and Massey randomly selected 1,403 healthy white males, employed as civil servants in Los Angeles in 1949, with a mean age of 47 (29). After

an initial examination, periodic followup examinations and yourly quastionmaires were completed. At the time of the ll-year followup, no difference in the incidence of coronary heart disease was observed according to sociosconomic class or the level of physical activity as determined by job title.

Norris and colleagues evaluated 687 healthy London busmen (14). Five years later, the busmen were re-examined and there were 47 cases of coronary disease diagnosed, including sudden death, myocardial infarction, electrocardiographic changes, and angina. Incidence rates per 100 men for the five years were 4.7 for conductors and 8.5 for drivers. However, the drivers were found to have significantly higher blood pressures and serum cholesterols than the conductors.

Paul followed 1,719 white makes, age 40 to 55, randomly selected from the employees of the Mawthorne Electrical Murks in Ch.cago (30). After eight years of followup, there were 24 deaths due to coronary disease, 53 acute myooardial infarctions with survival, and 80 patients with angina. Activity off the job was assessed by a personal interview. Approximate differences in caloric expenditure and intensity of work were determined for shop and office workers and also with special means for two different classes of shop workers. No difference was found in coronary disease among the different levels of activity.

Taylor studied the effects of occupational activity differences among railroad men (21). Energy expenditure was estimated by activity and dietary analysis. After five years of followup, no difference was found in coronary disease incident rates between the active and the sedentary groups.

Stanler and colleagues evaluated 1,241 apparently healthy male employees of the People's Gas Company in Chicago (31). After seven years of followup, coronary disease mortality was higher in blue-collar workers with an estimated greater activity at work than in white-collar workers. Stanler felt that this finding was consistent with the hypothesis that groups of men with similar findings with respect to the "cardinal risk factors" (hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and cigarette smoking) would experience similar mortality rates for coronary disease, irrespective of the habitual physical activity of work.

The Seven Countries Coronary Artery Disease Study consists of collaborate groups in Japan, Yugoslavia, the United States, Finlind, Italy, Netherlands, and Greece (32). The methodology of this excellent study has been described in detail elsewhere, and is a model for epidemiologic investigation. Data from the first five years of followup showed no difference in coronary disease incidence between physically active and sudentary men. The ten-year analysis, soon to be reported, will be of much interest.

Paffanbarger (an accomplished long-distance runner) and his colleagues have reported two separate studies of San Francisco longshoremen. The first study involved 3,263 males who were followed for 16 years (33). Two classes of workers, differing by about 925 calories in workday expenditure,

8

were identified. As defined, the lass active group hai a 33% higher coronary death rate. In the second study, 6,351 men were followed for 22 years, or to death, or to the age of 75 (34). Their longshoring experience was computed in terms of work-years according to categories of high, mudium, and low caloric output. The effect of job transfers was accounted for by reclassifying the men annually according to their work assignments. The age-adjusted coronary death rate for the high activity category was 26.9 per 10,000 work-years, and the medium and low categories had rates of 46.3 and 49.0. This protective "threshold" effect was mean supecially for sudden death. It was concluded that repeated bursts of high energy exercise established a plateau of protection against coronary mortality.

The Western Collaborative Group Study was initiated in 1961 with. emphasis on psychologic patterns. Annual followup studies were obtained on over 3,000 healthy men who initially were 35 to 59 years old. New corowary events, including symptomatic myocardial infarction, anging, and electrocardiographic changes were recorded. The customary exercise habits of each participant were obtained by personal interview. After 4.5 years of follows, the annual incidence of coronary disease was 10 per 1,000 for men without regular exercise habits, compared to 7.4 per 1,000 in men with exercise hubits (35). This difference was due to symptomatic myocardial infarction; for no difference was observed in the incidence of silent infarction, angina, or in recurring infarction. Fatal myocardial infarction had occurred in 2 per 1,000 men without regular exercise habits compared to 0.5 per 1,000 with exercise habits. The data were reanalyzed after 8.5 years of followup (36). No significant difference in the coronary disease incident rate was found when considering physical activity at work or other exercise habits, except in the group 50-59 at the time of entry. In that group, those who had regular exercise habits had approximately one-third less coronary disease than those with no regular exercise habits.

In 1963, Werko began study of a cohort of one-third of all men born in 1913 in the industrial Swedish town of Goteaburg. This cohort consisted of approximately 800 men, all 50 years of age, and without signs or symptoms of coronary disease. In the first report after 4 years of followup, there were 23 acute myocardial infarctions (37). The 23 men who had symptomatic infarction were questioned in order to assess, retrospectively, their activity level on and off the job one year prior to their infarction. Activity levels were categorized as light, model .te, or heavy. A random sample of healthy men in the cohort were questioned in a similar fashion, and by comparison, the sample men were more active. After 10 years of followup, Tibblin at al. presented a second report on this cohort (38). By that time, 19 men had died of coronary disease and 31 had survived an acute myocardial infarction. Physical activity during work was classified as sedentary, moderate, or heavy, according to the type of occupation held at 50 years of act. No significant difference in physical activity was found between those who developed coronary disease and those who did not. When using leisure time activities, there was a trand towards inactivity in those who were later to develop coronary discase.

In the Framingham study, the level of physical activity was assessed using a 24-hour history of usual physical activity, and a physical activity index arrived at from five classifications of activity status (39, 40). A number of physiologic measurements hypothesized to be parameters of physical activity were determined for each participant, including resting heart rate, vital capacity, hand grip strength and relative weight. Coronary heart disease and mortality were subsequently found to be higher in the cohorts with indices or measurements consistent with a sedentary life style. and the second second

Cassel and colleagues have reported a seven-year followup of the individuals found to be free of coronary disease in Evans County after their prevalence study (41). Among non-farming occupations, occupational physical activity no longer showed a protective effect against the development of coronary disease. However, the lower prevalence rate in white farmers compared to white non-farmers, and Blacks compared to Whites, was confirmed in this prospective study. One explanation for these findings was that only a sustained level of physical activity as performed in farming was protective against coronary disease. This explanation was supported by a trend discovered between leisure time and on-the-job physical activity and the prevalence of coronary disease.

Morris and colleagues studied British males who were government office workers (42). They utilized a questionnaire which evaluated leisure time physical activity. After a two-year followup, 232 men had suffered their first clinical attack of coronary disease. Each of these men was matched by age with t to colleagues not so affected. From the questionnaire, the activities of the men were analyzed and those who reached leisure time activity peaks of approximately 7.5 kcal/min were classified as vigorous. Eleven percent of the men who developed coronary disease and 26% of the controls were considered vigorous. Those recording vigorous exercise were at about one-third the relative risk of developing coronary disease as those who did not.

The Coronary Drug Project was a nationwide collaborative study to evaluate, in double-blind fashion, the efficacy of certain drugs to prevent the manifestations of coronary disease in men who had already had a myocardial infarction (43). Many parameters were assessed prior to the study, including leisure time physical activity. In the placebo group, the fiveyear percentage of death w \pm 14.4% for the moderate or vigorous men as compared to 23.8% for the sedentary men.

Pathologic Studies

Morris and Crawford sent out requests to several hundred british pathologists to complete a standard questionnaire on autopsies of men 45 to 70 years old (44). The last occupation was estimated (by its title) as involving light, active, or heavy physical activity. The results of 3,800 autopsies on individuals dying of causes other than coronary disease were gathered from 1954 to 1956. Ischemic myocardial fibrosis and complete coronary occlusion were commoner in lighter occupations, but coronary atheromata and narrowing were of equally high prevalence in all occupation groups.

.

The results of 207 consecutive autopsies of white males, age 30 to 60, who died from accidents, homicide or suicide, were reported by Spain and Bradess (45). The autopsies were done in the medical examiner's office of Westchester County, New York. The men were considered as active or sedentary (by occupational title) with approximately 100 in each group. No significant differences were found in the degree of atherosclerosis between those engaged in sedentary and those engaged in physically active occupations.

Currens and White presented the autopsy results of Clarence DeNar, a famous long-distance runner, who died of rectal carcinoma (46). He was still running long distances until shortly before his death at age 70. His coronary arteries were found to be two to three times normal size with some atherosclerotic involvement, but it did not encroach on the luminal area.

Measurements were made from radiographs of injected coronary arteries in two autopsy studies at Radcliff Infirmary, Oxford (47). Ninety-two cases without postmortem evidence of myocardial infarction were used as controls; and 79 cases were used who had evidence of acute or healed infarction. The right coronary artery measured in a nondiseased segment was assumed to reflect the dismeter of the coronary arteries. The physical activity of the last occupation was determined (from the job title) as light, active, or heavy. The diameter of the right coronary artery in normals increased with age, but the infarction cases showed a smaller diameter of the right co. ary artery in each age group. The data were cnly suggestive that, in normals, the right coronary artery diameter increased with the activity of work--while in the infarction group, it decreased. These differences were not statistically significant and no determination of the degree of atheroscierosis was made.

A group of pathologists in Jaffa, Israel, reported the results of consecutive autopsies on 172 European-born Jews who were victims of traumatic deaths (48). According to personal documents and some information obtained from relatives, 93 had led a sedentary life and 79 were manual workers. Each coronary artery was cross-sectioned at 1.0-cm intervals to measure internal and external diameters. The percentage of narrowing of the vessels was calculated using these measurements. There was no significant difference between the active and inactive groups.

Recently, T. J. Bassler has published letters stating that his personal experience, as a pathologist and as an active participant in the American Medical Joggers Association, has led him to the conclusion that "immunity to a heart attack coexists with the ability to cover 42 kilometers on foot." Though his letters are referenced with publications bearing his name from reputable scientific journals, these all turn out to be "letters-to-theeditor." Thus, his statements are totally conjecture and not based on any scientific study. I have had the experience of knowing of men with exceptional physical fitness who have had severe coronary artery disease, and have reported one such case (49). Opic has reported a number of long distance runners who have died of coronary atherosclerotic heart disease (8).

ST. Contraction

-14 -14 -14

いたいので、「「「「「「」」」」」

and the second second

Proponents of the physical activity hypothesis have always been upset by the high incidence of coronary disease in the very active eastern Finlanders. A recent pathologic study has shown how unknown factors can confuse epidemiologists in trying to demonstrate the influence of one factor in the etiology of this multi-factorial disease. Pesonen and colleagues (50) have reported an autopsy study of infants who died in Finland. The left coronary arteries were thicker in the eastern group, and supported the hypothesis that the thickenings were a genetic component in the etiology of coronary disease. If the physical activity hypothesis is true, this finding could explain the high incidence of coronary disease in the east Finlanders in spite of their vigorous physical activity.

Rehabilitation Studies

Hellerstein has reported his seven-year experience in a prospective study of the effects of physical fitness on the course of coronary neart disease (51). His program also modified other risk factors by advising an antiatherogenic diet, the avoidance of cigarettes, and weight loss. Over the followup period, his patients experienced a death rate of 2 per 100 subject-years. In a group of conventionally treated patients, the death rate was 5 per 100 subject-years. Unfortunately, this study was not double-blind, and there was selection of the healthier patient group by the exclusion of those patients who could not tolerate an exercise program. Also, other risk factors were modified.

Gottheiner has presented data on over 1,000 men with coronary heart disease who remained in his rehabilitation program in Israel for five years (52). Initially, the group consisted of 1,500; but nearly one-third dropped out. His program involved careful advancement through gradually more intensive exercise, with testing prior to advancement to a higher stage. It culminated in competitive team games for those who progressed to the upper fitness categories. The author suggested that the use of competitive sports maintains the participant's interest in the program. He reported a mortality rate of 3.5% over five years of followup, compared to 12% in a comparable series of physically inactive postinfarction patients in Israel. Similar to other rehabilitation studies, there was a selection of a healthier patient group by the loss of those unable to tolevate the exercise program.

Rechnitzer and his colleagues in Canada have reported their five- and seven-year followup of survival and recurrence rates after myocardial infarction in exercising and control subjects (53). The seven-year study consisted of 58 men under age 51, with a previous myocardial infarction, who participated in a program of graduated exercises for seven years. The controls fulfilled the criteria to enter the exercise program, but did not. The exercising subjects experienced a 3% recurrence rate and a 7.6% death rate, as compared with a 12% recurrence rate and a 15% death rate in the controls. A second comparison of recurrence and survival over a five-year period was made between 77 patients, who had remained in an exercise program for a minimum of three months, and 127 control subjects. The exercising subjects manifested a 1.3% recurrence rate and

الجارية والمتحقق والمحتجر والمحتفظ المراد والمتصفحة والمحتج والمتحاصين والمتحاصين والمتحاص والمحتج والمحت

a 3.9% death rate, while the controls had a 28% recurrence rate and 11% death rate. Although the results of their investigations suggested that an exercise program in a selected group may favorably affect prognosis following recovery from myocardial infarction, the results should be interpreted cautiously. One or more variables (such as blood pressure, argina, and serum cholesterol), not related to the exercise program, may have been operative in producing the apparent benefits. Recently, in the United States, a national collaborative postinfarction study has begun. It is performed in a double-blind fashion; the major risk factors are controlled, and only the activity status of the postinfarction subjects will be directly altered. Kopefully, this study will clarify the relationship of exercise training and prognosis after a myocardial infarction.

The hemodynamic changes secondary to physical conditioning have been the subject of many studies and I have reviewed these studies in detail previously (2). They are summarized in Tables 3 and 4. In short, at submaximal levels of exercise, maximal oxygen consumption increases and heart rates decrease. The latter beneficially allows a longer time during diastole for myocardial perfusion. However, it has been debated whether the increase in maximal oxygen consumption is due to an increased cardiac output or to a widening of the AVO₂ difference (54). Recently, Rousseau and colleagues have demonstrated in trained cardiac patients that the higher maximal oxygen consumption was due almost exclusively to a greater maximal AVO₂ difference (55). This finding supports the concept that, in cardiac patients, the improvement in performance with physical conditioning is due to increased peripheral extraction of oxygen by the working muscles. However, some cardiac patients probably also have an improvement in cardiac function (56, 57).

Redwood and his colleagues studied the hemodynamic effects of a sixweek intensive training program in seven patients with angina (58). Training resulted in a marked increase in exercise capacity. A hemodynamic index of myocardial oxygen consumption (triple product) was less at any level of exercise after training and a higher index value could be achieved prior to angina. They concluded that physical training improved exercise performance by reducing the heart rate and blood pressure response to exercise, and their findings also suggested that myocardial oxygen delivery was enhanced.

Kattus and his colleagues reported 30 asymptomatic men who had abnormal responses to exercise testing (59). Thirteen of them participated in a supervised physical training program that led to an increased exercise capacity. Four of these men normalized their electrocardiographic response to treadmill testing; but, of the 17, who did not train, two normalized their exercise electrocardiogram. The significance of these findings is uncertain, since it has been well documented that an abnormal exercise test is only 20%-30% predictive of coronary artery disease in asymptomatic men (60, 61). And the state of t

Kavanagh and colleagues in Canada have reported eight postinfarction patients from their rehabilitation center who were able to compete in the Boston Marathon (62). While these patients ran, they were accompanied by their physicians--with resuscitation equipment--in automobiles. These investigators did not advocate marathon running as a casual pastime for postmyocardial infarction patients. However, their patients did show that a remarkable level of function is possible through training, even in postinfarction patients.

Fletcher and Cantwell have reported their outpatient exercise program for patients with recent myocardial infarctions (63). They reported 42 patients who participated in three months or more of a gym program of walking and jogging, calisthenics and volleyball. There was a significant increase in treadmill exercise capacity--and a decrease in resting and peak exercise systolic blood pressure and resting heart rate, body weight, and serum triglycerides. Of three patients with abnormal ST segment depression on initial submaximal treadmill tests, two had a normal test after the exercise program. This study suggests that a medically supervised gym exercise program for patients with recent myocardial infarctions is feasible, safe, and beneficial.

Ferguson and his colleagues in Canada entered 14 patients, with angiographically documented coronary artery disease, in a 13-month physical training program (64). After training, there was a 25% increase in maximal oxygen consumption. Coronary angiography was repeated; and new collateral vessels, observed in only two instances, appeared to have developed in response to a progression of coronary artery disease. The increased exercise capacity after training in these patients was not due to the development of the coronary collateral circulation as evaluated by coronary angiography.

ANIMAL STUDIES

In the evaluation of the physical activity hypothesis, limited human studies are available on the morphologic and metabolic changes in the cardiovascular system due to exercise training. This limitation is due to the difficulties controlling interfering variables, the reluctance to perform serial invasive procedures, the lack of cardiac tissue for analysis, the inability to make accurate measurements of the size of the coronary arteries and the ventricular wall and cavity, and time as well as expense. For these reasons, a careful review of the pertinent animal studies on the effects of chronic exercise is of importance in understanding some of the ways exercise can influence the cardiovascular system (1). In Table 5 are listed the areas reviewed in this section.

	Nan ac cu	a je	DAVS RETWEEN STUDIES	TYPE OF TRAINING
STUDY DALLAS (119)	NO. OF NOW 3 sedentary men and 2 athletes	18-21	55	Interval and continuous; 6 days a week for l ¹ ; hours a day
STOCKHOLM (120)	8 sedentary men	19-27	120	Continuous; 3 days a week for 1 hour a day
VERMONT (121)	9 athletes	18-24	90	Dash and continuous; daily for 1-2 hours
HELSINKI (122)	14 sedentary men	19-26	60	h ard basic military trainirg
STOCKHOLM-GOTHENBURG (123)	15 sedentary men	38-55	63	Interval and continuous; 2-3 days/week for l hr/day
VERMONT (124)	7 sedentary men	40-49	200	Competitive paddle ball for 1 hour, 3 times a week
GOTHENBURG (125)	5 sedentary men with CAD (coronary årtery disease)	44-55	180	Bicycle ergometer 3 times a week
HELSINKI (126)	6 sedentary men with CAD	37-55	50	Bicycle ergometer 3 times a week
SEATTLE-LOUVAIN (127)	12 sedentary men with CAD	34-69	06	Submaximal aerobic exer- cise 3 times a week
COPENHAGEN (128)	7 sedentary men with CAD	46-60	30-70	Bicycle ergometer 5 times a week

1 ~

STUDIES OF THE HEMODYNAMIC EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL CONDITIONING (ref. 2) TABLE 3.

15

and the resident the states -

Ì,

ちちちの「「「「「「「「」」」」

Sector and a state of the sector of the

ŝ

\$

HEMODYNAMIC CHANGES SECONDARY TO PHYSICAL CONDITIONING AS DEMONSTRATED BY THE REPORTED STUDIES (ref. 2) TABLE 4.

	TYPE OF EXERCICE	Sere A	Siling (BE)			Sating (BE)	Sitting (DE) without catheters			Bicycle of treadmill without catheters	
ERCISE	ανον	•	÷			1	×			×	
EXI	3	1	4.			+	×			×	
M	ရှိ	+	-	l		-	-			-	
	2	•-	+			+	×			×	
X	8	*	+		_	+	×		ļ	×	
		1	+			<u>] </u>	×			×	
	ġ	1	←			E,	×			×	
	H	1	•			-	-	1		*	
	INTENSITY DF EXENCISE	Multiple ievels	Multiple levels	Hish Hish	Modern r	Multiple Isvels	10 II	5 & 25 min during exercise	Low High	Multiple levels	L.m High
	Ανο, D	1	+	××	×	I	××	+	1 1	+-	××
SIS	5		7								
EXERC	H	1	+	+ •	·	<u> </u>	• -		+		+ +
	0,0	1	+	+ -	•	1	+ +	1	+	1	ч <u>т</u>
VW	5<	1	÷	-	1 +	+	-	1		1	
IXXI	2	1	1			1				-	-• +
18/		1	1	1	· -	E		can)		(un	
S	SB	1	1		· ↓ →	Ē	+ +	E		Ę	
	Ħ		→	→ <u>·</u>	• -•					-	
	TYPE OF EXERCISE	Supine & treadmill	Sitting (bicycle ergometer) (BE)	Treadmill	Supine	Siting (BE)	Treadmill	Sitting (BE)	Supine	Sitting (BE)	Sitting (BE)
	AV02D	+	f m.	×	×	×	×	1	1	•	×
	ő	+	←	+			-	1			, ·
57	2	-+	1	+	-	1 1	1	1	1		•
RE	2	-	•		-	1	1		1	•	+
		1	1	1	1		-	Î	1	tur.	•
	5	ł	1	1	1	Ĕ	1	lě —	'	ŭ,	
	Ĩ	-	-	-+	-			·	:	-	•
STUDY		Dullas (young normaly)	Stockbedm (young noemds)	Vermont (young athletes)	Relsinki Overing sectorals	Stockholm- Gothenburg + elder averauty	Vermoni (older normal)	(Anthenburg (Consents) Arters (Secose) (CAD)	Helsinki (CAD)	Seattle- Linuvan (CAD)	Coperifiagen (CAD)

For key to signs, acronyms, and symbols--consult facing page. NOTE:

1

RUMA . A.C. Miner Har + AL

ł The second

16

--- KEY TO TABLE 4 ---

Signe

Acronyms and Symbols

· heart rate	· lactic acid concentration
*	
n difference	
xygei	er
o sno	gomet
Ven	ŭ 0
arteric	bicycle
M	W
AV02D	BE

- CAD = coronary artery disease
- CO = cardiac output
- DBP = diastolic blood pressure
- 0₂C = oxygen consumption

maximal oxygen consumption

H

MO₂

mechanical efficiency

.

ÿ

SBP = systolic blood pressure

1. ~

And a second of the second second second

ير بالإذار بالمعالم المعالم المعالم المعالم المعالم

TABLE 5. THE TOPICS OF ANIMAL STUDIES CONCERNING THE EFFECTS OF CHRONIC EXERCISE ON THE CARDIOVAS ALAR SYSTEM (AS REVIEWED IN THIS REPORT)

- 1. Myocardial hypertrophy
- 2. Myocardial histologic changes
- 3. Coronary artery size changes
- 4. Coronary collateral circulation

5. Cardiac performance

6. Nyocardial mitochondria enzymes and glycogen stores

7. Atherosclerosis and serum cholesterol

Myocardial Hypertrophy

Numerous studies have demonstrated that vigorous exercise can produce cardiac hypertrophy in the animals (65-70). This hypertrophy rapidly regresses when the exercise training is discontinued (65). It is generally believed that exercise-induced hypertrophy serves as a useful adaptive mechanism to improve myocardial contractility and increase cardiac work capacity. Poupa and his colleagues have reported that the heart/body ratios are invariably larger in the wild than in the domestic form of an animal species (66). Leon, Bloor, and associates (67, 68) have presented data showing that the heart hypertrophies with exercise in young rats-whereas, in old rats, exercise causes a decline in heart weight due to a loss of myocardial fibers. Tomanek and his coworkers (69) have also demonstrated age-dependent myocardial hypertrophy in exercised rats.

Myocardial Histologic Changes

Poupa, in comparing domesticated to wild animals, found that the density of muscle cells and capillaries was much greater in the more active wild animals (66). In an experiment utilizing surgical constriction of the aorta, Poupa induced a 35% increase in heart weight in one-monthold and in adult rabbits (66). In the young rabbits, the hypertrophied hearts showed a normal capillary density; but, in the adult rabbits, it was decreased. He hypothesized that in young animals, cardiac hypertrophy was secondary to fiber hyperplasia, while in older animals, it was secondary to cellular hypertrophy. Also, he hypothesized that the capillary bed responds most markedly to exercise performed at an early age.

Tomanek studied the age-related response of the ventricular capillary bed and myocardial fiber width in male rats to chronic exercise (70). After a period of chronic exercise, the rats were euthanized. The myocardial fiber width was unchanged while the capillary/fiber ratio increased in the exercised rats as compared to the control rats in all age groups. The capillary density decreased with age, and was increased over the controls only in the young exercised rats. Leon and Bloor (68) have also demonstrated that, although the response of the rat heart to chronic exercise varied with age, the capillary to fiber ratio increased at all ages.

Coronary Artery Size Changes

Tepperman and Pearlman sturied the effects of exercise on the coronary tree of rats by the corrosion-cast technique (71). After an exercise program, the animals were suthanized, their hearts were weighed, and then their coronary arteries were injected with vinyl acetate. The hearts were digested with potassium hydroxide and the casts of the coronary arteries ware weighed alone. Compared to the controls, the exercise groups had an increased heart to body weight ratio and an increased coronary tree cast weight to heart weight ratio.

Stevenson and coworkers used the same corrosion-cast technique to ascertain the effects of exercise of different types, frequency, and duration (72). They found that, in the rat, forced exercise caused an increase in the coronary tree size as compared to the cardiac weight, provided the exercise was not too strenuous or frequent. Leon and Bloor (68) demonstrated that evimeling exercise in rate caused an increased luminal cross-sectional area of the main coronary arteries in the animals that developed an increase in ventricular weight; that is, only in the youngest of the strenuously exercised rate. These results are cupported by the studier of Kerr and colleagues that demonstrated coronary artery enlargement in rate with cardiac hypertrophy induced by hypoxia, acttic constriction, and thyroxin (73). Also, it has been shown in autopey studies that the relationship between total heart weight and the diameter of the coronary arteries is linear in man up to the upper weight limit of physiologic hypertrophy (74).

Coronary Colleteral Circulation

Eckstein studied the effects of exercise and artificial coronary artery narrowing on coronary collateral flow (75). He surgically induced a constriction in the cixcumflex artery of approximately 100 anosthetized dogs. Various degrees of marrowing were induced, but only dogs that developed electrocardiographic changes ware included in the study. After one week of rest, the dogs were divided into two groups. One group was exercised on the treadwill regularly for two months, and the other group remained at rest in cages. Then, the animals were anosthetized, a second thoracotomy was performed, and their blood pressure was stabilized mechanically. The circumflex artery was isolated and divided beyond the surgical constriction. Flow rate through the constriction and the flow rate from the distal end of the artery were measured. The flow rate through the constriction was considered to be inversely related to the degree of constriction. When these values were plotted against one another, it was shown that the less the antegrade flow or the greater the constriction, the greater the retrograde or collateral flow. Also, the exercised dogs had a greater value for retrograde flow than the rested dogs with any degree of constriction. These results demonstrated that moderate and severe arterial narrowing resulted in collateral flow proportional to the degree of narrowing, and that exercise led to even greater collateral flow.

Burt and Jackson used "Mails" bothods to study the effects of exercise on the contempt collateral flow of normal dogs (76). Prior constriction of a coronary artery was not performed as in Eckstein's experiments. After one month of treadmill exercise, surgery was performed and retrograde flow was measured from the distal portion of the circumflex artery with its proximal end ligated. No difference was found in retrograde flow between the control and the exercise groups.

Kaplinsky and coworkers studied the effects of five weeks of treadmill exercise on dogs after complete occlusion of the left anterior descending onronary artery (77). The exercised dogs and a control group were euthanized, and selective cineangiography and postmortem coronary injections demonstrated extensive collateral formation; but no difference was found between the two groups.

Cobb and associates studied the effects of exercise on acute coronary occlusion in dogs who already had an artificial partial occlusion (78). The anterior descending coronary artery was partially occluded in 50 dogs, and then the dogs were divided into a control and an exercise group. After a training period, a complete occlusion of the anterior descending artery was surgically produced. The dogs were monitored for arrhythmias for six days, then euthanized, and their hearts removed. The coronary vessels were injected and the collateral vessels quantitated radiographically. The two groups did not differ as to the extent of the infarct relative to the partial occlusion, the frequency of arrhythmias, or the extent of radiographically quantitated colleterals.

Cardiac Performance

Penpargkul and Scheuer have reported the effects of physical training on the mechanical and metabolic performance of the isolated rat heart (79). Exercised rats and controls were euthanized and their hearts isolated in a perfusion apparatus with cannulas inserted for life support, pressure and flow measurement, and metabolic analysis. When compared with sedentary controls, the hearts from conditioned rats had higher levels of cardiac work and output. Atrial pacing at increased rates caused greater differences in these parameters, and left ventricular pressures and DP/DT became higher in the conditioned hearts. Atrial pacing also resulted in greater oxygen consumption in conditioned hearts, whereas higher lactate and pyruvate concentrations occurred in sedentary hearts. Raising atrial filling pressures resulted in ventricular function curves which were superior in the conditioned hearts. Also, there were greater increments in oxygen consumption, a higher aerobic/anaerobic energy production ratio, and increased coronary artery flow. In the physically trained rate, the function of the heart as a pump was improved, and this was at least partially due to improved oxygen delivery. Scheuer has excellently reviewed the subject of phusical training and intrinsic cardiac adaptations (80).

Crews and Aldinger have studied exercise hypertrophied rat hearts (81). After an exercise program, a thoracotomy was performed and isometric . .

systolic tension was measured while the animals were physiologically supported. This measurement is felt by the authors to reflect potential contractility and cardiac work. Neasurements were also made of left ventricular pressure before and during aortic constriction. The findings supported the concept that the exercise hypertrophied heart was functionally superior to the normal heart. Aldinger has reported a similar study involving a control and an exercise group of rats receiving Digitoxin (82). The study demonstrated that, unlike the pathologic hypertrophy of disease, exercise hypertrophy and the increment in myocardial function concumitant to the hypertrophy were not altered by Digitoxin.

Myocardial Nitochondria Engymes and Glycogen Stores

Arcos and his colleagues (83), who studied female rats, used a protocol similar to that used by Aldinger. The rats were separated into a control group and into three swimming groups, with total swimming time ranging from 60 to 500 hours. The rats were euthanized and their hearts analysed. Mitochondrial mass was increased only in the rats that swam for approximately 160 hours. Electron-microscopy showed increased size and number of mitochrondria in this group, while mitochondrial degeneration was noted in rats exercised for a longer time. No change in the respiratory rate of mitochondrial homogenates was found between the groups. The microscopic and histochemical sections showed evidence of myocardial degeneration in the exercised rats.

Aldinger and Sohal repeated the previous experiment with the total swimming time increased to between 400 and 1500 hours (84). Also, a control and an exercise group treated with Digitoxin were included. Again, mitochondrial degenerative changes were seen in the myocardium of the non-treated swimmers; however, the swimmers receiving Digitoxin showed no degenerative changes. In fact, they had an increase in the size of mitochondria and the number of mitochondrial cristae. The swimmers had an increased mitochondrial to myofibril ratio, occasional areas of myocardial hemorrhage, increased distance between nuclei, and dilatation and vesicle formation within intercalated discs.

Banister et al. have reported a study of the effects of chronic exercise on myocardial mitochondria morphology using electron-microscopy (85). Male rats were run on a treadmill for one hour a day over a 65-day period. Throughout the training period, four animals were euthanized on certain days: one control; one trained animal, euthanized immediately after exercise; one euthanized 30 minutes after exercise; and one euthanized 24 nours after exercise. On the first training day, exhaustive running resulted in myocardial degeneration in animals euthanized immediately and 30 minutes after exercise. The rat euthanized 24 hours after exercise showed myocardial morphology similar to that of the control rat. The effect of training began to appear after ten days. Fewer altered mitochondria were seen in trained rats euthanized at any period after exercise. This demonstrated that with physical training, exhaustive axercise has a less damaging effect on myocardial mitochondria, suggesting that this organelle adapts to exercise.

21

Oscal and colleagues (05, 07) have studied rate by using various exercise protocols, including the same swimming protocol used by Arcos and Aldinger. They could not confirm an increase in mitochondrial protein or respiratory ensymes in the mitochondria of exercised rate. They found that the capacity for anrobic metabolism of untrained rat myocardium was adequate to meet the increased demands for ATP imposed by an exercise program without increasing mitochondrial mass or respiratory capacity. Mempiratory ensyme levels were approximately five times higher in the heart than in the gastrocnemius muscle.

Scheuer and coworkers have measured increased cardiac glycogen stores in conditioned rat hearts, but found no increase in the concentration of high energy phosphate compounds (88). However, physical training in rats resulted in an increase in adenosine triphomphate activities of cardiac actomyosin, crude myosin, and purified myosin (89-91). These contractile protein ensymatic activities probably relate to potential myocardial contractility. The increase in adenosine triphomphate activity was found to be related to the intensity and the duration of the training program. Further studies indicated that training may induce a chemical change at the locus of ensymatic activity on myosin at its site for interaction with actin (91). These findings regarding the contractile proteins probably explain the increased contractility in the hearts of conditioned animals.

Atherosclerosis and Serum Cholesterol

McAllister and colleagues have reported an experiment demonstrating an accelerated effect of treadmill exercise on experimental atherosclerosis (92). Ten dogs were placed on identical high cholesterol diets of equal caloric value and 150 mg of thiouracil daily. The diet and thyroid antagonists were used to shorten the time period of the study. The dogs were treated identically except that five were trained to run five miles a day. At the end of one year, angiograms were performed; then the dogs were euthanized, and their arteries analyzed for the extent of atherosclerosis. During the course of the study, the serum cholesterols progressively rose, with the runners having higher values. The runners also showed more atherosclerosis than the sedentary dogs in all vessels, including the coronaries.

Myasnikov and his colleagues reported the results of a study performed in Russia (93). Ten rabbits were given a high cholesterol diet; 25 rabbits received the same diet but were exhausted daily on a treadmill; and 8 rabbits received no cholesterol but were exercised. The exercised rabbits on a high cholesterol diet had lower surum cholesterols than those not exercised. At the end of six months, the animals were euthanized; and visual estimation suggested that the exercise reduced the development of atherosclerosis in the aorta and coronary arteries. For unknown reasons, however, there were more marked pathologic changes in the myocardium of the exercised rabbits receiving cholesterol than in either of the other groups. Kobernick and his coworkers reported the results of a similar study (94). Eighteen rabbits were fed a high cholesterol diet and exercised for ten minutes a day, while a non-exercised matched group received

22

the same diet. Serum cholesterol values did not differ between the groups. After 13 weeks the rabbits were euthanized, and their aortas inspected visually for atherosclerosis and chemically analyzed for cholesterol. Exercised rabbits had greater muscle mass, less body fat, and less sortic atherosclerotic involvement than the non-exercised rabbits.

Warnock and his colleagues reported an exercise study using young male roosters (95). All of the birds were fed an atherogenic diet. Approximately half were exercised while the others remained caged. Weekly sarum cholesterol values were determined and found to be lower in the exercised birds. The food consumption was supposedly equal in both groups but the exercised birds were Leavier. At the and of 14 weeks, the birds were euthanized and the aorts, its main branches, and samples of brain and liver were assayed for cholesterol. The cholesterol content was lower in the assayed vessels and liver of the exercised birds than in the non-exercised birds. Weiss performed a similar study on adult chickens (96). No sign nificant difference was found in the degree of atherosclerosis in the thoracic and abdominal sorts of chickens maintained at three different activity levels.

Carlson has reported the consists of strenuous exercise on the serum cholesterol of old rats (97). The trained group ran three hours daily for one month. At the end of this period, the serum cholesterol averaged 186 mg% in the trained group and 250 mg% in the control group. The extent of atherosclerotic involvement was not studied. Carlson found that lipid levels in rats increased with age as they do in man. Faris et al. performed a similar study using young rats (98). Both control and exercised animals had serum cholesterol readings of about 45 mg%, and there were no statistical differences between the groups. Hebert and Lopez also studied the effects of exercise on serum lipids in rats of unstated age (99). After 10 weeks, the rats who exercised voluntarily in a revolving drum had less of a weight gain, larger adrenal glands, lower serum cholesterol, lower serum triglycerides, and lower liver G-6-PD levels than did the sedentary controls.

FACTORS ACTING INDIRECTLY THROUGH PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

There are factors affected by exercise that could alter myocardial ischemia or atherosclerosis. Set of these are listed in Table 6 and are briefly reviewed in this set in.

- TABLE 6. FACTORS . CISE TRAINING COULD INFLUENCE, AND THAT COULD AFFECT MYOCARDIAL ISCHEMIA AND/OR ATHEROSCLEROSIS
 - 1. Blood coagulation and fibrinolysis
 - 2. Serum cholesterol
 - 3. Serum triglycerides
 - 4. Blood pressure
 - 5. Susceptibility to fatal arrhythmias
 - 6. Neuro-humoral factors
 - 7. Excess weight

The possibility has long been postulated that an increase in fibrinolytic action secondary to exercise could prevent coronary thrombosis, but recent studies have not confirmed this theory (100, 101). However, the investigation of platelet adhesiveness may yield pertinent findings (102). The studies of the effects of exercise on serum cholesterol in man have been reviewed in detail by Gustafson (103). It appears that regular vigorous exercise can lower cholesterol levels somewhat; but diet, certain medical disorders, and genetic mechanisms are much more influential. Most studies, however, have shown a decrease in serum triglycerides with exercise training (104, 105). The effects of exercise training in patients with borderline or mild hypertension have been studied (106, 107). These studies have demonstrated a favorable response. Raab was a strong proponent of the theory that exercise favorably alters neuro-humoral factors influencing myocardial ischemia and that exercise could protect the heart from fatal arrhythmias (108). However, there has been little or no scientific work done to substantiate these theories. Many investigators have recommended exercise training as a method to control obesity. Carter and Phillips nicely demonstrated the structural changes that can occur secondary to exercise in middle-aged men (109). Over a two-year period, their exercise group made significant decreases in body weight, percent body fat, skin fold thickness, girth, and endomorphy as well as having a significant increase in their specific gravity.

DISCUSSION

The available data evaluating the relationship of physical activity and/or aerobic exercise training to coronary atherosclerotic heart disease and myocardial ischemia are reviewed in this section. In spite of the work of many excellent investigators, no definite conclusion can be made because the results of the available studies are both contradictory and inconclusive. The following discussion will try to explain why a definitive answer is not possible.

Many of the epidemiologic studies have dealt with occupational differences in retrospective studies. Although retrospective studies are attractive because the data are already available, such an approach has many difficulties. The information collected usually was not standardized or complete; this is especially true for physical activity which is difficult to measure. Furthermore, the population base was highly selected due to job transfers, retirement, or death. Confounding variables (such as lipids, blood pressure, and ther pertinent measurements) usually were not available. These studies can have impressive numbers of man-years observed, but the biases were not eliminated by the great number of observations. With limited access to the subjects studied and with reliance on poorly st. 'ardized information, the assessment of physical activity and the diagnosis of coronary heart disease have been imprecise.

Prospective studies are better for accurately determining relative risk and minimizing the likelihood of bias, but prospective studies are comparatively expensive and difficult. Although the data collection and

2.3

State of the second second

and the second second

methodology can be precise, classifying physical activity usually is still imprecise. Few studies have employed adequate methodology to characterize the physically active individual in accurate terms.

When the occupation or job title alone is used to assess the level of physical activity, those with latent coronary heart disease may be selected in less active work--because the sick usually transfer to less demanding jobs. Men select their jobs for personal reasons; and those with illness, symptoms, or obesity usually are more likely to obtain sedentary work. In this mechanized era, however, there is a limited gradient in on-the-job activities. Also, individuals that differ by occupation usually differ by socioeconomic status and by other risk factors. Inaccuracies of physical activity assessment often become apparent when a job assumed to be of a certain activity level is in estigated closely, or when off-the-job activities are considered. Thus, job titles without an actual assessment of energy expenditure or consideration of off-the-job activity make difficult the accurate classification of individuals as active or inactive.

Assessing the level of physical activity by a questionnaire completed by the subject can be grossly inaccurate and often poorly reproducible (17). Exaggeration or denial mechanisms cause problems, particularly in postinfarction patients; and there are the usual inconsistencies due to limitations of understanding and memory. When questionnaires are administered to a population at risk (which includes individuals with angina, early symptoms of coronary disease or high risk diseases, such as hypertension and diabetes), a bias is introduced which tends to increase associations between physical inactivity and coronary heart disease. These high-risk individuals are also likely to be less active. Data from such questionnaires would relate physical inactivity to coronary disease when, in fact, physical inactivity was actually related to the high-risk condition.

The Framingham study used heart rate, obesity, vital capacity, and hand-grip strength as measurements of the level of physical activity (40). However, these measurements are indirect and dependent upon other factors. Other investigators have used caloric consumption, assuming a steady weight to assess the level of physical activity. This method depends upon food questionnaires or dietary samplings, both of which have well-known limitations and methodologic problems.

A major problem with assessing physical activity and its relationship to myocardial ischemia is that, if it truly does exert a protective influence, the specific physiologic mechanism has not been demonstrated. Certain types or patterns of exercise may be more important to assess than those already considered.

Endpoints used in population studies have included: angina, coronary insufficiency, acute myocardial infarction, diagnostic electrocardiographic changes, sudden death, and other manifestations assumed to be due to coronary heart disease. The definitions and tests for these endpoints often were not standardized, and investigators relied upon the diagnosis Carlos 👘

of many different physicians. The problems with diagnosis by death certificate are easily appreciated. Other difficulties arise in the selection of the <u>underlying</u> cause of death as contrasted with immediate cause and contributing factors.

The pathologic studies were not definitive, because physical activity was estimated from the title of the last job and because differences in technique were used in determining the degree of atherosclerosis and the caliber of the coronary arteries. It is striking, though, that the three studies (44, 45, 47) investigating the degree of coronary atherosclerosis in a cohort found little or no difference between their active and sedentary groups.

With respect to the rehabilitation studies, investigators have shown that, under proper supervision, exercise training can be carried out with reasonable safety in selected patients with coronary heart disease and that the hemodynamic changes of the trained state can be achieved (2, 51-64). Importantly, the ability of these persons to tolerate physical stress can be increased and a high proportion of them are able to return to a more active life. Unfortunately, the rehabilitative studies have not been controlled and have depended upon volunteers. Also, the patients were further selected by the loss of higher risk patients physically unable to undertake an exercise program. Hopefully, the National Collaborative Postinfarction Rehabilitation Study will not have these limitations.

The animal studies have added considerable data to our knowledge of the effects of chronic exercise on the heart. They demonstrate that there are morphologic and metabolic changes that can make the cardiovascular system better able to withstand any stress, possibly even that imposed by atherosclerosis and myocardial ischemia. These favorable adaptations are more marked in younger animals than in older animals. However, the data regarding a beneficial effect of chronic exercise on the atherosclerotic process or on serum cholesterol levels are in no way definitive. In general, the animal studies support the therapeutic and preventive use of exercise. They suggest, however, that efforts to motivate individuals to exercise should be adjunctive to the modification of the cardinal risk factors--hypercholesterolemia, cigarette smoking, and hypertension (5, 110).

Since there are inadequate data at this point to demonstrate that regular physical exercise stops the atherosclerotic process or protects the heart from the progression of myocardial ischemia, reasons against its recommendation must be considered. In spite of many excellent reviews of physical activity and coronary heart disease (111-114), little attention has been given to the negative aspects. Blackburn's balanced approach to this matter should be noted (115, 116).

The danger of exercise in persons with coronary heart disease, even in those with asymptomatic disease, has been demonstrated (6-10). Surprisingly, most myocardial infarctions do not occur during exertion (117, 118), but

26

this may be due to physiologic warnings that make persons with coronary heart dimease limit their activities. The advice to "get more exercise" may be enough to make a person ignore these warnings and exceed the limits of his myocardial blood supply. Besides the mortality associated with exercise, there can be significant morbidity, especially in older individuals. Infarctions have been reported, and even carefully supervised training programs have a significant incidence of orthopedic problems. Another consideration is the expense of facilities, equipment, and supervision for exercise.

SUMMARY

The data regarding the effect of physical conditioning on the progression of myocardial ischemia, although suggestive of a favorable influence, are in no way definitive. Efforts to alter the physical activity habits of our population should not supersede efforts to alter the major risk factors. The emphasis in the prevention of coronary atherosclerotic heart disease for the general public should be on the well-established cardinal risk factors, that is, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, and cigarette smoking. The National Collaborative Postinfarction Rehabilitation Study, when completed, may demonstrate how physical conditioning influences the progression of myocardial ischemia. However, "moderate activity is a part of a balanced satisfying living and is the safe and same hygienic prescription of the thoughtful physician for his patients, the high risk and the healthy alike" (116).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author expresses his gratitude tc: Dr. T. J. Reeves, for encouraging his interest in this subject; Dr. A. Oberman, for help with his earlier efforts; Mrs. Julie Froelicher, for her editorial assistance; and Mrs. Rosa Linda Rodriguez, for her aid with the drafts and manuscript.

BIELIOGRAPHY

- Froelicher, V. F. Animal studies of effect of chronic exercise on the heart and atherosclerosis. A Review. Am Heart J 84:496 (1972).
- Froelicher, V. F. The hemodynamic effects of physical conditioning in healthy young, and middle-aged individuals, and in coronary heart disease patients, ch. 5, pp. 63-77. In J. Naughton and i. .. Hellerstein (eds.). Exercise testing and exercise training in coronary heart disease. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1973.
- Froelicher, V. F., and A. Oberman. Analysis of epidemiologic studies of physical inactivity as risk factor for coronary artery disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 15:41 (1972).

4. Heyden, S. Epidemiology, chap. 5, p. 266. In F. G. Schettler and G. S. Boyd (eds.). Arteriosclerosis: Pathology, physiology, aetiology, diagnosis and clinical management. Amsterdam: Elsevier Publishing Co., 1969.

Wenness and the second

- 5. Intersociety Commission for Heart Disease Resources: Primary prevention of the atheroscleratic diseases, Circulation 42:A-55 (1970).
- 6. Shephard, R. J. Sudden death a significant hazard of exercise? Brit J Med 8:101 (1974).
- 7. Cantwell, J. D., and G. F. Fletchet: Cardiac complications while jogging. JANA 210-130 (1969).
- 8. Opie, L. Sudden death and sport. Lancet 1:263 (1975).
- 9. Bruce, R. A., and W. Kluge. Defibrillatory treatment of exertional cardiac arrest in coronary disease. JAMA 216:653 (1971).
- 10. Jokl, E., and J. T. McClellan. Exercise and cardiac death. <u>In Nedicine and Sport</u>, Vol. V. Baltimore, University Park Press, 1971.
- 11. Morris, J. N. Epidemiology and cardiovascular disease of middle age. Parts I and II. Mod Concepts Cardiovasc Dis 29:625 (1960).
- 12. Morris, J. N., et al. Coronary heart disease and physical activity of work. Lancet 2:1111 (1953).
- 13. Morris, J. N., J. A. Heady, and P. A. Raffle. Physique of London busmen. Lancet 2:569 (1956).
- 14. Morris, J. N., et al. Incidence and prediction of ischaemic heart disease in London busmen. Lancet 2:553 (1966).
- 15. Oliver, R. M. Physique and serum lipids of young London busmen in relation to ischaemic heart disease. Brit J Industr Med 24:181-187 (1967).
- 16. Forssman, O., and B. Lindegard. The post-coronary patient. A multidisciplinary investigation of middle-aged Swedish males. J Psychosom Res 3:89 (1958).
- Zukel, W. J., et al. A short-term community study of the epidemiology of coronary heart disease. Am J Public Health 49:1630 (1959).

- Partie - A Au

- 18. Stamler, J., M. Kjelsberg, and Y. Hall. Epi-smiologic studies on cardiovascular-renal diseases: I. Analysis of mortality by age-race-sex-occupation. J Chronic Dis 12:440 (1960).
- 19. Breslow, L., and P. Buell. Mortality from coronary heart disease and physical activity of work in California. J Chronic Dis 11:421 (1960).
- 20. Shanoff, H. M., and J. A. Little. Studies of male survivors of myocardial infarction due to "essential" atherosclerosis. I. Characteristics of the patients. Can Med Assoc J 84:519 (1961).
- 21. Taylor, H. L., et al. Death rates among physically active and sedentary employees of the railroad industry. Am J Public Health 52:1697 (1962).
- 22. Kahn, H. A. The relationship of reported coronary heart disease mortality to physical activity of work. Am J Public Health 53:1058 (1963).
- 23. Adelstein, A. N. Some aspects of cardiovascular mortality in South Africa. Brit J Prev Soc Med 17:29 (1963).
- 24. Frank, C. W., et al. Physical inactivity as a lethal factor in myocardial infarction among men. Circulation 34:1022 (1966).
- 25. Brunner, D. Myocardial infarction among members of communal settlements in Israel. Lancet 2:1049 (1960).
- 26. Brunner, D. The influence of physical activity on incidence and prognosis of ischemic heart disease, p. l. In W. Raab (ed.). Prevention of ischemic heart disease. Springfield, Ill.: Charles C Thomas, 1966.
- 27. Stanler, J., et al. Prevalence and incidence of coronary heart disease in strata of the labor force of a Chicago industrial corporation. J Chronic Dis 11:405 (1960).
- 28. McDonough, J. R., et al. Coronary heart disease among Negroes and Whitus in Evans County, Georgia. J Chronic Dis 18:443 (1965).
- 29. Chapman, J. M., and F. J. Massey. The interrelationship of serum cholesterol, hypertension, body weight, and risk of coronary disease. J Chronic Dis 17:933 (1964).
- 30. Paul, O. Physical activity and coronary heart disease. II. Am J Cardiol 23:303-306 (1969).

31. Stamler, J., et al. Long-term epidemiologic studies on the possible role of physical activity and physical fitness in the prevention of premature clinical coronary heart disease, p. 274. <u>In D. Brunner (ed.). Physical activity and aging. Medicine</u> and Sport, vol. IV. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1970.

and the second second

- 32. Blackburn, H., H. L. Taylor, and A. Keys. Coronary heart disease in seven countries. Circulation 41 (Suppl. 1):154 (1970).
- 33. Paffenbarger, R. S., et al. Work activity of longshoremen as related to death from coronary heart disease and stroke. New Engl J Ned 282:1109 (1970).
- 34. ?affenbarger, R. S., and W. E. Hale. Work activity and coronary heart mortality. New Engl J Med 292:545 (1975).
- 35. Rosenman, R. H. The influence of different exercise patterns on the incidence of coronary heart disease in the western collaborative group study, p. 267. In D. Brunner (ed.). Physical activity and aging. Medicine and Sport, vol. IV. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1970.
- 36. Rosenman, R. H., et al. Coronary heart disease in the western collaborative group study. JANA 233:872 (1975).
- 37. Werko, L. Can we prevent heart disease? Ann Intern Med 74:278 (1971).
- 38. Tibblin, G., L. Wilhelmsen, and L. Werko. Risk factors for myocardial infarction and death due to ischemic heart disease and other causes. Am J Cardiol 35:514 (1975).
- 39. Kannel, W. B. Habitual level of physical activity and risk of coronary heart disease: The Framingham Study. Can Med Assoc J 96:811 (1967).
- 40. Gordon, T., P. Sorlie, and P. McNamara. Physical activity and coronary vulnerability: The Framingham Study. Cardiol Digest 6:28 (1971).
- 41. Cassel, J., et al. Occupation and physical activity and coronary heart disease. Arch Intern Med 128:920 (1971).
- 42. Morris, J. N., et al. Vigorous exercise in leisure-time and the incidence of coronary heart disease. Lancet 1:333 (1973).
- 43. Coronary Drug Project Research Group: Clofibrate and Niacin in Coronary Heart Disease. JAMA 231:370 (1975).
- 44. Morris, J. N., and M. D. Crawford. Coronary heart disease and physical activity of work. Brit Med J 2:1485 (1958).

- 45. Spain, D. M., and V. A. Bradess. Occupational physical activity and the degree of coronary atherosclerosis in "normal" men. Circulation 22:239 (1960).
- 46. Currens, J. H., and P. D. White. Half a century of running. New Engl J Med 265:988 (1961).
- 47. Rose, G., R. J. Prineas, and J. R. Mitchell. Myocardial infarction and the intrinsic calibre of coronary arteries. Brit Heart J 29:548 (1967).
- 48 Mitrani, Y., H. Karplus, and D. Brunner. Coronary atherosclerosis in cases of traumatic death, p. 241. In D. Brunner (ed.). Physical activity and aging. Medicine and Sport, vol. IV. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1970.
- 49. Thompson, A. J., and V. F. Froelicher. Kugel's artery as a major collateral channel in severe coronary disease. Aerosp Ned 15:1276 (1974).
- 50. Pesonen, E., R. Norio, and S. Sarna. Thickenings in the coronary arteries in infancy as an indication of genetic factors in coronary heart disease. Circulation 51:218 (1975).
- 51. i 'lerstein, H. K. Effects of an active physical reconditioning intervention program on the clinical course of coronary artery disease. Mal Cardiovasc [Firenze] 10:461 (1969).
- 52. Gott einer, V. Long-range strenuous sports training for cardiac reconditioning and rehabilitation. Am J Cardiol 22:426 (1968).
- 53. Rechnitzer, P. A., et al. Long-term follow-up study of survival and recurrence rates following myocardial infarction in exercising and control subjects. Circulation 45:853 (1972).
- 54. Clausen, J. P. Effects of physical conditioning, a hypothesis concerning circulatory adjustment to exercise (A review). Scand J Clin Lab Invest 24:305 (1969).
- 55. Rousseau, M. F., L. A. Brasseur, and J. R. Detry. Hemodynamic determinants of maximal oxygen intake in patients with healed myocardial infarction: Influence of physical training. Circulation 48:943 (1973).
- 56. Frick, M. H., and M. Katila. Hemodynamic consequences of physical training after myocardial infarction. Circulation 37:192 (1968).
- 57. Frick, M. H., M. Katila, and A. L. Sjogren. Cardiac function and physical training after myocardial infarction, p. 43. In O. A. Larsen and R. O. Malmborg (eds.). Coronary heart disease and physical fitness. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1971.

 Redwood, D. R., D. R. Rosing, and S. E. Epstein. Circulatory and symptomatic effects of physical training in patients with coronary artery disease and angina pectoris. New Engl J Med 286:959 (1972).

and the second second

- 59. Kattus, A. A., et al. ST segment depression with near-maximal exercise: Its modification by physical conditioning. Chest 62:678 (1972).
- Froelicher, V. F., et al. Epidemiologic study of asymptomatic men screened by maximal treadmill testing for latent coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 34:770 (1974).
- Froelicher, V. F., et al. The value of exercise testing in screening asymptomatic men for latent CAD (in press). Prog Cardiovasc Dis (1975).
- 62. Kavanagh, T., R. H. Shephard, and V. Pandit. Narathon running after myocardial infarction. JANA 229:1602 (1974).
- Fletcher, G. F., and J. D. Cantwell. Outpatient gym exercise program for patients with recent myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med 134:65 (1974).
- 64. Ferguson, R. J., et al. Effect of physical training on treadmill exercise capacity, collateral circulation and progression of coronary disease. Am J Cardiol 34:765 (1974).
- 65. Leon, A., and C. Bloox. Effects of exercise and its cessation on the heart and its blood supply. J Appl Physiol 24:485 (1968).
- 66. Poupa, O., K. Rakusan, and B. Ostadal. The effect of physical activity upon the heart of vertebrates, p. 202. In D. Brunner (ed.). Physical activity and aging. Medicine and Sport, vol. IV. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1970.
- 67. Bloor, C. M., S. Pasyk; and A. S. Leon. Interaction of age and exercise on organ and cellular development. Am J Pathol 58:185 (1970).
- 68. Leon, A. S., and C. M. Bloor. Exercise effects on the heart at different ages (abst.). Circulation 41 and 42 (Suppl. III):50 (1970).
- 69. Tomanek, R. J., C. A. Taunton, and K. S. Liskop. Relationship between age, chronic exercise, and connective tissue of the heart. J Gerontol 27:33 (1972).
- 70. Tomanek, R. J. Effects of age and exercise on the extent of the myocardial capillary bed. Anat Rec 167:55 (1970).

- Tepperman, J., and D. Pearlman. Effects of exercise and anemia on coronary arteries of small animals as revealed by the corrosion-case technique. Circ Res 9:576 (1961).
- 72. Stevenson, J. A., et al. Effect of exercise on coronary tree size in the rat. Circ Res 15:265 (1964).
- 73. Kerr, A., Jr., W. J. Bommer, and S. Pilato. Coronary artery enlargement in experimental cardiac hypertrophy. Am Heart J 75:144 (1968).
- 74. Lingbach, A. J. Heart failure from the point of view of quantitative anatomy. Am J Cardiol 5:370 (1960).
- 75. Eckstein, R. W. Effect of exercise and coronary artery narrowing on coronary collateral circulation. Circ Res 5:230 (1957).
- 76. Burt, J. J., and R. Jackson. The effects of physical exercise on the coronary collateral circulation of dogs. J Sports Ned Phys Fitness 4:203 (1965).
- 77. Kaplinsky, E., et al. Effects of physical training in dogs with coronary artery ligation. Circulation 37:556 (1968).
- Cobb, F. R., R. L. Ruby, and B. L. Fariss. Effects of exercise on acute coronary occlusion in dogs with prior partial occlusion. (Abstract). Circulation 37 and 38:104 (1968).
- 79. Penpargkul, S., and J. Scheuer. The effect of physical training upon the mechanical and metabolic performance of the rat heart. J Clin Invest 49:1859 (1970).
- Scheuer, J. Physical training and intrinsic cardiac adaptations. Circulation 47:677 (1973).
- 81. Crews, J., and E. E. Aldinger. Effect of chronic exercise on myocardial function. Am Heart J 74:536 (1967).
- 82. Aldinger, E. E. Effects of digitoxin on the development of cardiac hypertrophy in the rat subjected to chronic exercise. Am J Cardiol 25:339 (1970).
- 83. Arcos, J. C., et al. Changes in ultrastructure and respiratory control in mitochondria of rat heart hypertrophied by exercise. Exp Molec Pathol 8:49 (1968).
- 84. Aldinger, E. E., and R. S. Sohal. Effects of digitoxin on the ultrastructural myocardial changes in the rat subjected to chronic exercise. Am J Cardiol 26:369 (1970).

 Banister, E. W., R. J. Tomanek, and N. Cvorkoy. Ultrastructural modifications in rat heart—responses to exercise and training. Am J Physiol 220:1935 (1971).

21

المسلة الأثني والمسلم

المتين المرداد المشاره

- Oscai, L. B., P. A. Mole, and J. O. Holloszy. Effects of exercise on cardiac weight and mitochondria in male and female rats. Am J Physiol 220:1944 (1971).
- 87. Oscai, L. B., et al. Cardiac growth and respiratory enzyme levels in male rats subjected to a running program. Am J Physiol 220:1238 (1971).
- Scheuer, J., et al. Glycogen lipid, and high energy phosphate stores in hearts from conditioned rats. J Lab Clin Med 75:924 (1970).
- 89. Wilkerson, J. E., and E. Evonuk. Changes in cardiac and skeletal muscle myosin ATPase activities after exercise. J Appl Physiol 30:328 (1971).
- 90. Bhan, A. K., and J. Schauer. The effects of physical training on cardiac actomyosin adenosine triphosphatase activity in the rat. Am J Physiol 223:1486 (1972)
- 91. Bhan, A. K., and J. Scheuer. Effects of physical conditioning on cardiac myosin. (Abstract). Circulation 46 (Suppl):II-131 (1972).
- 92. McAllister, F. F., R. Bertsch, and J. Jacobson. The accelerating effect of muscular exercise on experimental atherosclerosis. Arch Surg 80:54 (1959).
- Myasnikov, A. L. Influence of some factors on development of experimental cholesterol atherosclerosis. Circulation 17:99 (1958).
- 94. Kobernick, S. D., G. Niawayama, and A. C. Zuehlewski. Effect of physical activity on cholesterol atherosclerosis in rabbits. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 96:623 (1957).
- 95. Warnock, N. H., T. B. Clarkson, and R. Stevenson. Effect of exercise on blood coagulation time and atherosclerosis of cholesterol-fed cockerels. Circ Res 5:478 (1957).
- 96. Weiss, H. S., et al. Physical activity and atherosclerosis in the adult chicken. J Atheroscler Res 6:407 (1966).
- 97. Carlson, L. A. Lipid metabolism and muscular work. Fed Proc 26:1755 (1967).
- 98. Faris, A. W., F. M. Browning, and J. D. Ibach. The effect of physical training upon total serum cholesterol levels and arterial distensibility of male white rats. J Sports Med 11:24 (1971).

99. Habart, J. A., and A. Lopez-S. Metabolic effects of exercise. II. Residual metabolic effects of exercise in rats. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 148:646 (1975).

And a state of the second

100. Rosing, D. R., et al. Blood fibrinolytic activity in man: Diurnal variation and the response to varying intensities of exercise. Circ Res 27:171 (1970).

- 101. Nowley, R. T., P. Brakman, and T. Astrup. Resting levels of fibrinolysis in blood in inactive and exercising man. J Appl Physiol 28:549 (1970).
- 102. Simpson, M. T., et al. An spidemiological study of platelet aggregation and physical activity. (Abstract). Circulation 43-44 (Suppl):II-88 (1971).
- 103. Gustafson, A. Effect of training on blood lipids, pp. 125-129. In O. A. Larsen and R. O. Malmborg (eds.). Coronary heart disease and physical fitness. Baltimore: University Park Press, 1971.
- 104. Shane, S. Relationship between serum lipids and physical conditioning. Am J Cardiol 18:540 (1966).
- 105. Hollossy, J., J. Skinner, and G. Toro. Effect of a six-month program of exercise on the serum lipids of middle-aged men. Am J Cardiol 14:753 (1964).
- 106. Boyer, J. L., and F. W. Kasch. Exercise therapy in hypertensive men. JANA 211:1668 (1970).
- 107. Choquette, G., and R. J. Ferguson. Blood pressure reduction in "borderline" hypertonsives following physical training. Can Ned Assoc J 108:699 (1973).
- 108. Ryab, W. Preventive myocardiology, p. 22. Springfield, Ill.: Charles C Thomas, 1970.
- 109. Carter, L., and W. Phillips. Structural changes in exercising middle-aged males during a 2-year period. J Appl Physiol 27:787 (1969).
- 110. Taylor, C. B., et al. Risk factors in the pathogenesis of atherosclerotic heart disease and generalized atherosclerosis. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2:239 (1972).
- 111. Fox, S. M., III, J. P. Naughton, and W. L. Haskell. Physical activity and the prevention of coronary heart disease. Ann Clin Res 3:404 (1971).

- 112. Sanne, H. M., and L. Wilhalmeen. Physical activity as prevention and therapy in coronary heart disease. Scand J Rehabil Med 3:47 (1971).
- 113. Fox, S. M., III, J. P. Naughton, and P. A. Gorman. Physical activity and cardiovascular health. II. The exercise prescription: Intensity and duration. Mod Concepts Cardiovasc Dis 41:17 (1972).
- 114. Leon, A. S. Comparative cardiovascular adaptation to exercise in animals and man and its relevance to coronary heart disease, p. 143. In C. Bloor (ed.). Comparative pathophysiology of circulatory disturbances. New York: Plenum Publishing Corporation, 1974.
- 115. Blackburn, H. Progress in the epidemiology and prevention of coronary heart disease, ch. 1. Progress in Cardiology 3:1 (1974).
- 116. Blackburn, H. Disadvantages of intensive exercise therapy after myocardial infarction, p. 162. In F. Ingelfinger (ed.). Controversy in internal medicine. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders, 1974.
- 117. Pell, S., and C. A. D'Alonzo. Immediate mortality and five-year survival of employed men with a first myocardial infarction. New Engl J Med 270:915 (1964).
- 118. Pell, S., and C. A. D'Alonzo. A three-year study of myocardial infarction in a large employed population. JAMA 175:463 (1961).
- 119. Saltin, B., et al. Response to exercise after bed rest and after training. Circulation 38, Suppl. 7 (1968).
- 120. Ekblom, B., et al. Effect of training on circulatory response to exercise. J Appl Physiol 24:518-528 (1968).
- 121. Tabakin, B. S., J. S. Hanson, and A. M. Levy. Effects of physical raining on the cardiovascular and respiratory response to graded upright exercise in distance runners. Br Heart J 27:205-210 (1965).
- 122. Frick, M. H., A. Konttinen, and H. S. Sarajas. Effects of physical training on circulation at rest and during exercise. Am J Cardiol 12:142-147 (1963).
- 123. Kilbom, A., et al. Physical training in sedentary middle-aged and older men, Part I. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 24:315-322 (1969).

- 124. Hanson, J. S., et al. Long-term physical training and cardiovascular dynamics in middle-aged men. Circulation 38:783-799 (1968).
- 125. Varnauskas, E., et al. Haemodynamic effect of physical training in coronary patients. Lancet 2:8-12 (1966).
- 126. Frick, M. H., and M. Katila. Hemodynamic consequences of physical training after myocardial infarction. Circulation 37:192-202 (1968).
- 127. Detry, J. R., et al. Increased arteriovenous oxygen difference after physical training in coronary heart disease. Circulation 44:109-118 (1971).
- 128. Clausen, J. P., and J. Trap-Jensen. Effects of training on the distribution of cardiac output in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 42:611-624 (1970).